IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 81,004

W.R. GRACE & CO.-CONN., a Connecticut corporation,

Petitioner

vs.

THOMAS WATERS and ELOISE AGNES WATERS, his wife,

Respondents

Third DCA Case Nos. 90-1838; 90-2010; 91-282

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER W.R. GRACE & CO.--CONN.

KUBICKI, DRAPER
GALLAGHER & McGRANE, P.A.
25 West Flagler Street
Penthouse Suite
Miami, FL 33130
Telephone: (305) 374-1212

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, a former manufacturer of asbestos-containing products, has invoked this Court's jurisdiction pursuant to Art. V, § 3 (b)(4), Fla. Const., to review a decision from the Third District Court of Appeal which passes upon a question certified by the court to be one of great public importance. The question under review is whether Florida law permits additional punitive damages against a defendant based on a course of conduct that occurred twenty or more years ago, and for which punitive damages have already been assessed.

In this brief, the parties will be referred to as WATERS and GRACE, or alternatively, as they stood in the trial court. The symbol "R" will be used to designate the record on appeal; the symbol "T" will be used to designate the transcript of trial testimony; the symbol "A" will be used to designate the Appendix to Initial Brief of Petitioner, filed herewith.

All emphasis is supplied by counsel, unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

The Case

Plaintiffs, THOMAS WATERS and his wife, ELOISE AGNES WATERS, filed this action seeking compensatory and punitive damages against several manufacturers of asbestos-containing products alleging that THOMAS WATERS had developed asbestosis as a result of exposure to those manufacturers' products. (R. 1-11). Neither the Complaint nor the Amended Complaint contained specific allegations of

corporate misconduct on the part of GRACE. (R. 1-11; 80-103). In addition to general allegations of negligence applicable to all defendants, the Amended Complaint alleged:

30. The Plaintiff's illness was a direct and proximate result of the negligent, grossly negligent, reckless, willful and intentional conduct of the defendants as set forth herein...

(R. 88).

GRACE filed a motion for partial summary judgment on the issue of punitive damages asserting that GRACE's conduct, as a matter of law, did not rise to the level required for imposition of punitive damages in Florida. (R. 51-52). In addition, GRACE argued that since punitive damage judgments had been entered against it in other jurisdictions, a partial summary judgment should be entered on the punitive damages claim in accordance with a prior "standard ruling" by the trial court. (R. 52). Finally, GRACE argued that plaintiffs' claim for punitive damages was barred by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. (R. 52). The trial court granted GRACE's motion on the basis of the court's "standard ruling," and partial summary judgment was entered in favor of GRACE on the issue of punitive damages. (R. 66).

Just prior to trial, plaintiffs filed a Motion to Amend the

The record on appeal includes the opinion in the case of City of Greenville v. W.R. Grace & Co., 827 F.2d 975 (4th Cir. 1987); R. 635-655, affirming the assessment of \$2 million in punitive damages against GRACE, in addition to the judgment relied upon in GRACE's motion, which was later reversed on other grounds. Mercer University v. Corporation of National Gypsum Co., 877 F.2d 35 (11th Cir. 1989).

Complaint to Add Counts of Strict Liability, Additional Acts of Negligence and Reinstate Punitive Damages. (R. 656-664). Defendants objected to the amendment on the basis of the trial court's prior omnibus order, and the fact that the motion was made on the eve of trial. (T. 19). This motion was denied as trial commenced. (T. 31). The case proceeded to trial July 9, 1990 through July 17, 1990 against two defendants, GRACE and United States Mineral Products Co. ["USM"], on a theory of negligent failure to warn. (T. 4, 31).

The Trial

A. Testimony regarding exposure

WATERS at the time of trial was 62 years old. (T. 392). He worked as a tile setter from the late 1950s until 1988. (T. 395, 439). He never sprayed fireproofing himself, but testified that he worked around fireproofing products, including GRACE products which he identified as "Zonolite" and Monokote", at five job sites between the early 1950s and the early 1970s. (T. 400, 402, 412-420). WATERS testified that he worked 50 to 100 feet away from where plasterers were spraying. (T. 462).

The testimony regarding the extent to which plaintiff, as a tile setter, would have been exposed to fireproofing products — the only products at issue in the trial — was in sharp conflict. Plaintiff's "expert" on plastering and the sequencing of jobs testified that fireproofing was put in while tile setters were on the job, although they would not have been in the same room working together. (T. 503, 514-515). Defendants called two witnesses who

both testified that a tile setter would not have been exposed to fireproofing sprays because tile setting was a finishing trade. (T. 810-812; 998-999). Fireproofing, on the other hand, is one of the first trades on the job. (T. 998).

Plaintiff was diagnosed as having asbestosis in June of 1986 by Dr. Charles Tate. (T. 430). In the history given to Dr. Tate, plaintiff did not mention exposure to fireproofing sprays. (T. 451-452). Rather, he gave a history of exposure to asbestos while performing his job as a tilesetter. (T. 251). The asbestos was in the powder he used to make cement to hold the tiles in place. (T. 251). He poured the powder out of bags, causing clouds of dust to "boil up" in his face. (T. 251).

B. Dr. Tate Incident

On the first day of trial, after jury selection, plaintiff called Dr. Charles Tate as his first witness. (T. 137). Dr. Tate testified as to his educational background and qualifications as an expert. (T. 138-143). After Tate was tendered as an expert, he explained the process of breathing, and the workings of the lung in generic terms. (T. 144-153). Just after Dr. Tate had begun to explain asbestosis, he collapsed on the witness stand, suffering from what appeared to be a heart attack. (T. 155, 160).

Although the record reflects only an interruption in the proceedings, defendants' motions for mistrial described the actual scene: Dr. Tate slumped over with his eyes wide open and appeared to have suffered a heart attack. (T. 160, 163). The plaintiff, MR. WATERS, screamed "Oh my God" three or four times. (T. 161,

163). Paramedics were called to attend to the witness and they brought in oxygen. (T. 162). All of this occurred in the presence of the jury. (T. 160).

The judge announced that he would send the jury home for the day, and advised the parties that motions for mistrial would be entertained the following morning. (T. 155-157). In discharging the jury², the court stated:

The paramedics are here. We have been chatting and he will be going to Jackson to be checked on for sure, but under any circumstance he probably would not be asked to testify again in the case.

So rather than have you guys waiting around, he was the witness we were going to use the balance of the afternoon on, I will just send you home and ask you leave your pads with us and tomorrow morning be back up here in the jury room by nine o'clock if you will, please.

Leave the case here. These things happen. This is not an unusual occurrence, but it is certainly not usual either.

So I simply ask you to include the doctor in your prayers as you leave, also the parties.

Have a nice evening, relax, and I'll see you tomorrow morning.

Go out that way so you won't have to meet up with the medical people. He's got good blood pressure and good pulse rate. He thinks he just fainted, but rather than take a chance, okay. Good night.

² It is not clear from the record that the judge's comments were made within the hearing of the attorneys. (T. 157). The record reflects that the Court spoke to the jury while at the jury room door.

(T. 157-158).

Defendants moved for mistrial based on the prejudicial impact of the incident on the jury. (T. 160-164). Defendants argued that the traumatic nature of the event was likely to create sympathy for plaintiff, who also suffered from a heart condition. (T. 161, 162). Defense counsel stated that they had been personally shaken by the dramatic event and thought the jurors would likewise have been affected. (T. 161, 163, 164). Counsel for GRACE argued:

... I don't know if the jury would even know if you asked them what effect it would have on them, but I think it had to have some effect on them and I think the potential for prejudice is there.

Again, I can't explain to you what I would say the mechanics of that prejudice would be, but I think this creates a very different atmosphere in this case. We don't have a dispassionate situation anymore in terms of the climate of the courtroom ever since that moment.

(T. 163). The court indicated that he was not inclined to order a mistrial, and wanted to hear from the jury. (T. 165).

The court questioned the jurors on the issue of whether the event would interfere with their ability to be fair in listening to the case. (T. 183). Receiving no response, the judge proceeded with the trial, implicitly denying defendants' motions for mistrial. (T. 184).

C. Medical Issues

Dr. Robert Mezey, a physician specializing in pulmonary disease and internal medicine, testified that plaintiff suffered from pulmonary asbestosis, emphysema and asthma. (T. 222). He did

not examine WATERS, and his opinion was based on a review of medical records and x-rays, including those of Dr. Tate. (T. 221, 238, 250-253, 260, 268). Dr. Mezey testified that Dr. Tate was "revered as one of the founding pulmonary doctors in Miami." (T. 238). Dr. Mezey went on to testify that he agreed with Dr. Tate's opinion that plaintiff's asbestosis was severe. (T. 238).

Mezey relied upon the history of asbestos exposure given by WATERS to Dr. Tate. (T. 250). Although Mezey acknowledged Tate's diagnosis was not based on exposure to fireproofing sprays, he nonetheless testified that such exposure would have been a contributing factor to WATERS' development of asbestosis. (T. 241-242, 252).

Dr. Jack Kamerman is a family physician who treated WATERS for severe upper respiratory problems. (T. 299). Kamerman testified that he knew WATERS had been treated by Dr. Tate, "a very well known pulmonologist in this community and professor emeritus at the University of Miami." (T. 300). Kamerman reviewed Dr. Tate's report, which he used in his evaluation and treatment of WATERS. He testified that Tate's diagnosis was pulmonary asbestosis and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. (T. 301). Kamerman took a history from plaintiff regarding his exposure to asbestos, performed some additional tests, and took more x-rays. (T. 302).After taking and reading the chest x-rays, he agreed with Dr. Tate's conclusions. (T. 306, 365). Dr. Kamerman expressed his opinion that WATERS suffered from pulmonary asbestosis, emphysema and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease.

(T. 306).

Dr. Alan Feingold is a board certified pulmonary physician who testified on behalf of the defendants. (T. 830, 832). Feingold examined WATERS in May of 1989. (T. 842). At that time WATERS told Feingold that he may have had some asbestos exposure, but was not sure. (T. 853). Feingold assumed there was exposure. (T. 859). WATERS did relate a history of smoking cigarettes. (T. 843). Feingold testified that the chest x-rays showed that most of WATERS' upper lung was gone as a result of emphysema, caused by smoking. (T. 845-847). WATERS also had chronic bronchitis, which was likewise caused by smoking. (T. 848). Feingold testified that WATERS did not have asbestosis. (T. 872).

On cross examination, when specifically asked about his disagreement with Dr. Tate's report, Dr. Feingold testified that it was "a little ludicrous to say the man has mild pulmonary emphysema when you're confronted with those CT scans." (T. 891-892). Feingold further testified that he disagreed with Drs. Mezey, Tate and Kamerman as to the causes of the abnormalities visible on WATERS' x-rays: "if you tell me another doctor makes a diagnosis of asbestosis to explain the man's x-rays, I would say they are mistaken." (T. 902).

In closing argument, counsel for plaintiff highlighted the disagreement between the experts as to whether WATERS suffered from

WATERS testified that he started smoking when he was 19 or 20 years old, and built up to smoking approximately a pack a day. (T. 432-433). In 1965, he stopped smoking for approximately 10 years. (T. 433). He testified that he stopped smoking in 1986 when Dr. Tate "scared [him] to death." (T. 431-432).

asbestosis, noting that "Dr. Tate, a professor emeritus from the University of Miami, saw Mr. WATERS in May of 1986 and diagnosed mild emphysema and severe asbestosis." (T. 1078-1079). It was argued that Drs. Kamerman and Mezey agreed with that diagnosis, and that Dr. Feingold was the only doctor who disagreed. (T. 1079-1081).

The Verdict

The jury returned a verdict finding that GRACE and USM had negligently failed to warn of the dangers of exposure to asbestos, and found that the failure to warn on the part of both defendants was a legal cause of damage to plaintiffs. (T. 1148-1149). The jury found WATERS comparatively negligent, and attributed 10 percent of the fault to WATERS, 40% to USM and 50% to GRACE. (T. 1149). Damages were awarded to THOMAS WATERS in the amount of \$566,785 and to ELOISE WATERS in the amount of \$150,000. (T. 1149). After set-offs and reductions for comparative negligence, final judgment was entered against defendants in the amount of \$446,594.10 for THOMAS WATERS and \$118,191,40 for ELOISE WATERS. (R. 841-842).

GRACE filed a timely Motion for New Trial and for Remittitur, which raised as error the trial court's denial of defendants' motions for mistrial. (R. 794-799). Defendants' post trial motions were denied, and they appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal. (R. 830, 831-832). WATERS cross-appealed the trial court's orders striking the strict liability claims, and the summary judgment in favor of GRACE on the issue of punitive

damages.

The Appeal

The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment in favor of WATERS, on the grounds that defendants had not preserved the argument that they were prejudiced by not being able to cross-examine the witness, and that the trial court's finding that the defendants had suffered no prejudice by the emotional incident was not an abuse of discretion. (A. 4).

On the cross-appeal, the district court held that the trial court had improperly stricken plaintiffs' claims sounding in strict liability, and had improperly entered summary judgment in favor of GRACE on the issue of punitive damages. (A. 5). With regard to the punitive damages claim, the court stated:

On the issue of punitive damages, the trial court granted USM's and Grace's motions to strike punitive damages on grounds that if a defendant has once had punitive damages assessed against it, it will no longer be subject to punitive damages. As recently stated by the Second District Court of Appeal:

We know of no authority which would support the striking of a claim for punitive damages, as a matter of law, for this sole-stated reason. To the contrary, punitive damages are appropriate in asbestos litigation and the trial court's reason, if relevant at all, would be an issue of mitigation to be considered by the trier of fact. See Johns-Manville Sales Corp. v. Janssens, 463 So. 2d 242 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), review denied, 467 So. 2d 999 (Fla. 1985).

Baione, 17 F.L.W. at D 1299.4 ...

Baione v. Owens-Illinois, Inc., 599 So. 2d 1377 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992).

(A. 5). The court reinstated the claims for strict liability against both defendants, and reinstated the claim for punitive damages against GRACE only, finding that WATERS had waived any claim for punitive damages against USM, and remanded for further proceedings. (A. 6).

Judge Nesbitt dissented in part, stating:

I agree with the majority's opinion except that I would affirm the order striking the Waters' claims for punitive damages against W.R. Grace & Since Grace has already had punitive damages assessed against it in other suits, I think the trial judge was eminently correct in striking the claim for punitive damages. The views of Judge Friendly expressed in Roginsky v. Richardson -Merrell, Inc., 378 F.2d 832, 838-842 (2d Cir. 1967), pointing out the desirability of limiting multiple punitive damages awards, has proven its accuracy. Not only may such awards contribute to a company's bankruptcy, but they may result in a denial of compensatory damages to plaintiffs whose injuries manifest at some later date. To continue to inflict punitive damages on a company for decisions which may have been made years earlier, is to perpetuate the sins of the boardroom, penalizing not only the shareholders but society as a whole, and deny the company its competitive place in the market.

(A. 7).

A divided court certified the question as follows:

This court sua sponte certifies to the Florida Supreme Court the question posed by the dissent as one of great public importance, pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.125 (a).

(A. 8). Petitioner filed its timely notice to invoke jurisdiction to review the question certified as stated.

POINTS INVOLVED ON APPEAL

POINT I

WHETHER FLORIDA PUBLIC POLICY OR DUE PROCESS PERMITS THE AWARD OF ADDITIONAL PUNITIVE DAMAGES AGAINST A DEFENDANT FOR CONDUCT WHICH OCCURRED TWENTY OR MORE YEARS EARLIER, AND WHERE THE GOALS OF PUNISHMENT AND DETERRENCE HAVE BEEN ADEQUATELY SERVED BY PRIOR PUNITIVE DAMAGE AWARDS.

POINT II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR MISTRIAL AFTER PLAINTIFF'S PRIMARY MEDICAL WITNESS COLLAPSED ON THE STAND IN FRONT OF THE JURY, THE JUDGE ASKED THE JURORS TO PRAY FOR THE WITNESS, FAILED TO ASCERTAIN WHETHER WITNESS' COLLAPSE WOULD INTERFERE WITH JUROR'S ABILITY TO BE FAIR AND IMPARTIAL, AND DEFENDANTS WERE UNABLE TO CROSS-EXAMINE THE WITNESS.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The imposition of punitive damages is justified in Florida only where such an award satisfies the goals of punishment and deterrence. Limiting multiple punitive damage awards against defendants who have already been subjected to prior awards is perfectly consistent with Florida's public policy. Multiple punitive damage awards are not necessary as punishment when a manufacturer has already been punished by another jury for the same conduct. Moreover, deterrence is amply satisfied not only by a prior award of punitive damages, but even more so when the award is viewed in the context of the crushing burden of defending tens of thousands of asbestos cases. See Celotex Corp. v. Pickett, 490 So.2d 35, 39 (Fla. 1986) (McDonald, J., dissenting).

The trial court's approach strikes a sensible and practical balance between the policies of punishment and deterrence, and Florida's interest in maintaining corporate resources in order to compensate the thousands of future plaintiffs who will inevitably file claims for asbestos-related injuries. As the burden of asbestos litigation continues to take its toll, and the number of manufacturers forced into bankruptcy grows, the desirability of limiting multiple punitive damage awards is obvious. The need for such a limitation was foretold by Judge Friendly in Roginsky v. Richardson-Merrell, Inc., 378 F.2d 832, 838-842 (2d Cir. 1967). As recognized by Judge Nesbitt below, the prescient observations made twenty five years ago in that case have special force in the context of asbestos litigation.

In addition, the imposition of repetitive punitive damage awards for a single course of conduct violates the concept of "fundamental fairness" inherent in the constitutional guarantee of due process. The state's interest, if any, in extracting additional punishment pales in comparison to the due process right of defendants to be free from the imposition of multiple punishment for the same conduct.

At this stage in asbestos litigation in Florida, the trial court's ruling is both logical and fair. Preserving corporate assets to ensure the continued availability of compensation for future plaintiffs outweighs any interest in redundant punishment and deterrence, and in providing a windfall to one plaintiff at the expense of future claimants.

The trial court abused its discretion in denying GRACE's motion for mistrial and for a new trial based on the collapse of Dr. Tate in the presence of the jury. The district court's holding in this regard ignores the collective impact of the several factors present which combined to produce irreparable prejudice to defendants. The unique facts of this case -- which include an emotional and chaotic scene in the presence of the jury, coupled with an understandable but nonetheless inappropriate admonition by the trial court to pray for the witness -- when viewed in light of Dr. Tate's pivotal role in the overall case, combined to deprive defendants of the cold neutrality of the jury, and therefore, a fair trial.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

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