IN THE SUPREME DETRY OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 81,004

FILED

441 13 1485

CLERK, BUPREME COURT

Char Capally Chaft

W.R. GRACIC & CO. -CONA.,

Patitions:

75.

THERES WATERS and ELOISE AGNES WATERS, his wife,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS WATERS

COLSON, HICKS, BIDSON, COLSON, & MATTHEWS.

4700 S.E. Financial Center
200 Sait: Discayed Boulevars
Miami, Florida 33r37-2310
Telephone: (205) 373-2310

COOPER & WOLFE, P.A. 700 Courthouse Tower 44 West Plagier Street Miami, Florida 32130 Telephone: (305; 371-1507

##

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Florida law does not and should not limit the number of punitive damage awards that may be imposed in products liability cases to a single award. Neither the Florida legislature nor any of the courts of this state have given the slightest indication that they favor limiting punitive damage awards to the first plaintiffs. On the contrary, the courts that have ruled on the issue specifically have rejected Grace's position because it lacks a basis in law. The same is true of courts in other jurisdictions, which have refused either to limit punitive damage awards in mass tort actions to a single plaintiff or to abolish them altogether. Quite, simply, Grace has constructed its argument in reliance on the dissents in the cases which have rejected its position.

Allowing multiple punitive damage awards furthers the goal of punishing defendants who engage in malicious and socially harmful behavior. Currently, juries are free to distinguish between defendants who deserve to be repeatedly punished for their actions and those for whom a single punitive damage award is sufficient. Limiting punitive damages to a single plaintiff would eliminate this flexibility and allow manufacturers guilty of particularly egregious conduct to escape relatively unscathed.

The current system of awarding punitive damages also furthers the goals of punishment and deterrence. Under the present system, defendants are unable to predict with precision the number of punitive damage awards to which they may be subjected. This unpredictable feature of punitive damage awards functions as a

strong deterrent against anti-social behavior, both in terms of the particular defendant and other manufacturers of mass market products.

Grace's argument that it has been "adequately deterred" by the one punitive damage award to which it has been subjected and the compensatory damage awards for which it is responsible is unavailing and unpersuasive. Courts have uniformly held deterrence to be a general, rather than a specific, concept. The goal is to deter manufacturers in general, not just Grace, from the type of conduct involved in this case. Thus, whether Grace has stopped manufacturing the product that is the subject of this lawsuit has absolutely no bearing on whether multiple punitive damage awards are an effective deterrent against corporate misconduct in general.

Moreover, claims by Grace that multiple punitive damage awards will force it into bankruptcy are vague and overblown. There is nothing to substantiate Grace's position that the financial difficulties faced by asbestos manufacturers are the result of multiple punitive damage awards. Nor is there any evidence that Grace itself is suffering under the weight of such awards. For all the Court knows, Grace may actually be thriving despite the number of asbestos claims filed against it.

Finally, Grace is not without power to limit its punitive damage exposure. Should the issue of punitive damages ultimately go to trial, Grace has the option of presenting evidence to the jury of prior punitive damage awards. It also has the opportunity

to seek post-trial review of an award it deems excessive or imposed in violation of statute or common law limitations. Until a jury actually imposes a punitive damage award in this case, however, any analysis of the constitutionality of such an award would be premature.

This Court should not reach the issue concerning Dr. Tate because the Third District did not certify it. It does not conflict with any appellate decisions. The issue is a routine appellate matter.

In any event, this Court should affirm even if it reaches the issue concerning Dr. Tate. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the mistrial motions. The trial court has discretion to decide whether an unexpected medical event involving a witness will preclude the jury from being impartial. Here, the court made that decision only after it instructed and questioned the jurors. Its determination that Grace was not prejudiced was not an abuse of discretion.

Moreover, Grace waived its claim of prejudice due to the inability to cross-examine Dr. Tate. Grace agreed that this inability did not prejudice them. Its attempt to circumvent this waiver by claiming it did not know it would be prejudiced until the medical experts mentioned Dr. Tate's diagnosis and the medical history he took should be rejected. Grace did not renew its motions on this ground. In any event, Dr. Tate's testimony was limited to explaining how lungs work. He said nothing about his diagnosis or Mr. Waters' medical history. Grace suffered no legal

prejudice from being unable to cross-examine Dr. Tate about matters not raised on direct examination.

Nor was Grace prejudiced by the court's innocent comment that the jurors should keep Dr. Tate and the parties in their prayers. Grace certainly never complained about this comment to the trial court. Its complaint now comes too late.

#### **ARGUMENT**

FLORIDA LAW DOES NOT AND SHOULD NOT LIMIT THE NUMBER OF PUNITIVE DAMAGE AWARDS IN PRODUCTS LIABILITY CASES TO A SINGLE AWARD.

A. There is no precedent in Florida or other jurisdictions for limiting punitive damage awards to a single plaintiff.

Conspicuously absent from Grace's brief are any cases which hold that multiple punitive damage awards should not be permitted in products liability cases and that only a single award should be allowed. Such an omission is not surprising, given the extent to which courts have opposed limiting punitive damages to a single plaintiff. It is, however, indicative of just how weak Grace's position is in this case.

Florida courts have repeatedly rejected broad-based attacks on multiple punitive damage awards in mass tort situations. In Johns-Manville Sales Corp. v. Janssens, 463 So. 2d 242 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), the First District declined to carve out a "special exemption from punitive damages" for defendants in mass market tort cases. The court noted that defendants in such cases were not precluded from introducing evidence of prior punitive damage awards at trial, and that any attempt at imposing a limit on punitive damages would "not comport with the traditional functions of the court and jury." Id. at 253.3/

The court also rejected John-Manville's argument that it should not be subjected to punitive damages because it was no longer manufacturing any asbestos-containing products. "[P]unitive damages operate not only to punish the actual wrongdoer but, by way of example, to deter others from committing similar wrongs." Id. at 252.

Janssens was followed two months later by <u>Celotex Corp. v.</u>

<u>Pickett</u>, 459 So. 2d 375 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), <u>aff'd</u>, 490 So. 2d 35 (Fla. 1986), a case which involved another asbestos manufacturer.

Celotex argued that exposure to multiple punitive damage suits would force the company into bankruptcy and prevent future plaintiffs from receiving compensation for their injuries. However, the court refused to accept the defendant's argument.

We agree with this Court's recent opinion in <u>Janssens</u> . . . and decline to adopt a contrary view immunizing asbestos companies, and more particularly appellant, from punitive damage awards in mass tort litigation.

459 So. 2d at 377.

More recently, in <u>Baione v. Owens-Illinois</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, 599 So. 2d 1377, 1378 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), the Second District reinstated a claim for punitive damages which the trial court had stricken solely because punitive damages previously had been assessed against the defendant in other cases. Citing <u>Janssens</u> as precedent, the court proclaimed:

We know of <u>no</u> authority which would support the striking of a claim for punitive damages, as a matter of law, for this sole-stated reason. To the contrary, punitive damages are appropriate in asbestos litigation . . . .

Id.

The situation is the same in every jurisdiction that has had the opportunity to address the issue. See Glasscock v. Armstrong Cork Co., 946 F.2d 1085 (5th Cir. 1991) (rejecting challenge by asbestos manufacturer to a Texas court's decision to subject it to

multiple punitive damage awards) 4/; Wammock v. Celotex Corp., 826 F.2d 990 (11th Cir. 1987) (same result under Georgia law); City of Greenville v. W.R. Grace & Co., 640 F.Supp 559, 566 (D.S.C. 1986), aff'd, 827 F.2d 975 (4th Cir. 1987) (punitive damages appropriate against manufacturer of asbestos products even though other similar claims pending against the defendant); Hanlon v. Johns-Manville Sales Corp., 599 F.Supp. 376, 380 (N.D. Iowa 1984) ("This Court feels . . . that the defendants have provided no direct authority for the position that . . . punitive damages [in cases] involving multiple claimants in multiple jurisdictions should be limited:); Froud v. Celotex Corp., 437 N.E.2d 910 (Ill.Ct.App. 1982) (defendants should not be relieved of liability for punitive damages "merely because, through outrageous misconduct, they may have managed to seriously injure a large number of persons"); State ex rel. Young v. Crookham, 618 P.2d 1268 (Or. 1980) ("like every other court that has considered it, we reject the one bite/first comer solution as an inappropriate remedy" to punitive damage awards where alternative means of mitigating the impact of such awards exist). As the Fifth Circuit succinctly summarized: "The simple fact of the matter is that no appellate court has accepted the defendants' theory in a reported decision." Jackson v. Johns-Manville Sales Corp., 781 F.2d 394, 405 (5th Cir. 1986).

Even the cases on which Grace itself relies to support a

Glasscock noted that the defendant's arguments had been rejected previously by that circuit and that there was "no principle in law limiting recovery of punitive damages to the first claimant." 946 F.2d at 1097.

change in the law based on its public policy arguments explicitly reject the idea of limiting punitive damage awards to first-time plaintiffs:

We know of no principle whereby the first punitive award exhausts all claims for punitive damages and would thus preclude future judgments . . . [N]either does it seem fair or practicable to limit punitive recoveries to an indeterminate number of first comers.

Roginsky v. Richardson-Merrell, Inc., 378 F.2d 832, 839 (2d Cir. 1967).

Grace cites a number of cases for the proposition that multiple punitive damage awards should be outlawed in Florida. ever, its "authority" consists almost entirely of dissenting opinions, e.q., Celotex Corp. v. Pickett, 490 So. 2d at 39, Pacific Mutual Life Ins. Co. v. Haslip, 111 S. Ct. 1032 (1991) and dicta, see, e.g., Roginsky v. Richardson-Merrell, Inc., 378 F.2d 832 (2d Cir. 1967), Jackson v. Johns-Manville Sales Corp., 750 F.2d 1314 (5th Cir. 1985), aff'd, 781 F.2d 394 (5th Cir. 1986). cases Grace cites that actually address the issue of multiple punitive damage awards in asbestos cases favor allowing juries to impose such awards -- precisely the opposite of what Grace advocates in its brief. See Racich v. Celotex Corp., 887 F.2d 393, 397 (2d Cir. 1989); State ex rel. Young v. Crookham, 618 P.2d at 1268; Leonen v. Johns-Manville Corp., 717 F.Supp. 272 (D.N.J. 1989); Baione v. Owens-Illinois, Inc., 599 So. 2d 1377 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992).

The remaining cases Grace cites either have nothing at all to

do with punitive damages or are inapposite to the issue before the See, e.g., Eagle-Picher Indus., Inc. v. Cox, 481 So. 2d 517 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) (damages for future risk of cancer not recoverable); In Re School Asbestos Litig., 789 F.2d 996 (3d Cir. 1986) (advocating class action certification in mass tort litigation); Mercury Motors Exp., Inc. v. Smith, 393 So. 2d 545 (Fla. 1981) (employer not vicariously liable for punitive damages where misconduct was solely attributable to acts of employee); Lohr v. Byrd, 522 So. 2d 845 (Fla. 1988) (punitive damages cannot be imposed on innocent heirs or creditors of a decedent's estate); In re: "Agent Orange" Product Liab. Litig., 100 F.R.D. 718 (E.D.N.Y. 1983), aff'd, 818 F.2d 145 (2d Cir. 1987) (discussing punitive damage awards in non-asbestos context); In re: N. Dist. of California "Dalkon Shield" IUD Products Liab. Litig., 526 F.Supp. (N.D.Cal. 1981), rev'd on other grounds, 693 F.2d 847 (9th Cir. 1982) (same).

This is not to say that courts are unaware of, or insensitive to, the problems posed by mass tort litigation. See, e.g., Jackson v. Johns-Manville Sales Corp., 781 F.2d 394, 406 (5th Cir. 1986) (noting that relief sought by asbestos manufacturer against multiple punitive damage awards was more properly granted by state or federal legislature). However, courts have uniformly declined to interfere in what they rightfully perceive as a matter properly left to Congress or state lawmakers. See Racich v. Celotex Corp., 887 F.2d at 399 ("[W]e are here asked to hold, in effect, that the common-law standards applied by the courts of New York for imposi-

tion of punitive damages are unconstitutional, and that our own cases applying that law were in error. This would be a far-reaching holding indeed, particularly in the context of mass tort litigation that suggests the need for a uniform, national rule on the issue. Under all the circumstances, we believe that such a step, if it is to be taken . . . is best left for Congress or for higher judicial authority").

Indeed, the Florida legislature's silence during the last decade on what is clearly a matter of public policy suggests that the legislature does not deem such a limitation on punitive damages appropriate. The legislature has not been afraid to legislate concerning of punitive damages. See Fla.Stat. § 768.73(1)(a) (presumptively limiting the size of punitive damage awards to three times the amount of compensatory damages); Fla.Stat. § 768.72 (requiring evidentiary basis before punitive damages can be pled); Fla.Stat. § 768.73(2)(allocating a portion of every punitive damage award to state).

If the legislature truly believed the punitive damage situation was as severe as Grace has portrayed it, it certainly could have moved to either limit punitive damage awards to a single plaintiff or to abolish them from mass tort litigation altogether. That the legislature has seen fit to do neither while simultaneously imposing these other statutory restrictions on punitive damage awards can only mean that it considers the current laws governing punitive damage awards adequate and the public policy be-

hind those laws appropriate. 5/

This Court noted in <u>Carter v. City of Stuart</u>, 468 So. 2d 955, 957 (Fla. 1985):

Deciding which laws are proper and should be enacted is a legislative function. How and in what manner those laws are enforced is, in most instances, a judgmental decision of the executive branch. The judicial branch should not trespass into the decisional process of either.

See also Orr v. Trask, 464 So. 2d 131, 135 (Fla. 1985) ("Just as we would object to the intrusion of the executive or legislative branches into this Court's authority to promulgate rules of court procedures or to discipline parties before the courts as in contempt proceedings, we must be equally careful to respect the constitutional authority of the other branches"); Barnes v. B.K. Credit Serv., Inc., 461 So. 2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) ("Courts are never permitted to strike down an act of the Legislature because it fails to square with their individual social or economic theories or what they deem to be sound public policy") (emphasis added).

Moreover, limiting punitive damages to a single plaintiff would undermine the intent of § 768.73, which states that punitive awards in excess of three times the compensatory award are pre-

Grace maintains that the legislature's hands are tied by "parochial concerns." Brief of Grace at 31 (citing <u>Dunn v. Hovic</u>, No. 91-3838, 1992 WL 228875 (3d Cir. Sept. 18, 1992), <u>vacated and reh'g en banc granted</u>, (3d Cir. Oct. 8, 1992) (Weis, J., dissenting)). Were this the case, however, the legislature never would have acted to limit punitive damage awards at all. Obviously, the legislature's activity in this area proves that it is not afraid to act when it deems such action appropriate.

sumptively excessive. Section 768.73 reflects the legislature's belief that defendants ought to be punished in proportion to the amount and degree of harm they cause. The greater the injury, the more the defendant ought to be punished. The defendant's rule, however, would effectively emasculate that policy, since total punitive damage liability would be limited to three times the compensatory damages sustained by the first plaintiff to sue. The end result is that companies that commit heinous acts over a prolonged period of time would be rewarded for their misconduct -- a result the legislature clearly did not intend when it adopted § 768.73.

In sum, the legislature has stated its position on the issue of multiple punitive damages. There is simply no justification for this Court to interfere with the public policy decisions inherent in that position.

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